Fort Monmouth Drafted Local Sites, Including Famed Asbury Park Convention Hall
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(Note: This article appeared in the 8 June 2007 Monmouth Message)

On 12 August 1940, Chief Signal Officer MG (Ret.) Joseph O. Mauborgne (1937-1941) advised then Signal Corps School commandant MG (Ret.) Dawson Olmstead:

It is planned to activate at Fort Monmouth an Enlisted Replacement Center…in the event that the reservation at Fort Monmouth is inadequate…it is desired that you ascertain…the feasibility of leasing additional ground in the vicinity of Fort Monmouth . . .
This directive was issued in anticipation of the Selective Service Act necessitated by the United States’ entry into World War II.

Olmstead realized that the present area of the post, approximately 440 acres, was indeed insufficient to accommodate the Enlisted Replacement Center in addition to the post’s other burgeoning missions. He thus recommended the purchase of three contiguous areas.  The acquisition of these properties, and the filling of a portion of Parker Creek, increased the size of [image: image1.jpg]


the main post to 637 acres.  On this acreage, the Army built cantonments wherever it could find vacant space – except, of course, on the parade ground behind Russel Hall. 

The next year, then commander of the aforementioned Replacement Center, Major General (Ret.) George Lane Van Deusen, initiated the purchase of two contiguous properties about two miles west of Fort Monmouth (a site today known as the Charles Wood Area). 
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This second expansion of the post proved insufficient still. Fort Monmouth resorted to leasing numerous properties in Monmouth and Ocean Counties in order to accommodate its wartime missions; sites many have since forgotten were once associated with the defense of our nation. An exploration of these sites illustrates the post’s far reaching ties to its surrounding communities.
In 1941, Olmstead leased the National Guard Encampment at Sea Girt for $1 a year, plus $125 a day for power, gas and water.  The camp, according to Helen Phillips in her 1967 History of the United States Army Signal Center and School, “boasted twenty-two mess halls, latrines, a small laundry, an exchange, and concrete tent floors on which to construct the major portion of the temporary buildings.” According to Olmstead, “because of its extensive drill ground, target range, and railroad sidings, it is ideally equipped to permit the reception of selectees.”  Upon completion of three weeks’ basic training at Sea Girt, selectees would be transferred to the main Replacement Training Center at Fort Monmouth to continue their specialist training.

The War Department named the site “Camp Edison” on 25 April for Charles Edison, governor of New Jersey and son of the inventor, Thomas A.  Following the war, the Army returned Camp Edison to the New Jersey National Guard.  The land is still used by the National Guard Encampment and the State Police Academy.

Asbury Park’s Convention Hall, a beachfront landmark and New Jersey treasure, is located on Ocean Avenue between Fifth and Sunset. The site entered onto the State Register of Historic Places in 1978 and onto the National Register in 1979. Few realize that Grand Central Station architects Whitney Warren and Charles Wetmore designed Convention Hall in 1923. Fewer realize that the site can be counted among Fort Monmouth’s off-post leased facilities during WWII. 
COL Willard Matheny, Assistant Executive Officer at Fort Monmouth, revealed the Army’s plan to lease Convention Hall in August 1942. Matheny explained that the expansion of the Signal Corps at Fort Monmouth had been so rapid that there was no time to build sufficient facilities on post. The Hall would serve as a training facility for officers. 

Phillips reveals that the Army divided Convention Hall into sixteen classrooms, including two large rooms that each provided seating space for 150 students at map tables. While the classrooms were being partitioned off, instruction was conducted in the Asbury Park YMCA gymnasium. The Signal Corps had also leased that facility. Archival records show that the building, completed in 1929, primarily housed the Eastern Signal Corps School Enlisted Department. 

Convention Hall and the YMCA retired from military service in November 1943. While you can still attend events at Convention Hall, the YMCA closed in the mid-1990s. 
The Army also leased another popular Asbury Park site, the Marine Grill at Ocean Avenue and Deal Lake. Records show that this restaurant served as a mess facility for 325 officers housed in Asbury. 
The Marine Grill re-entered civilian life in November 1943. It has been demolished. 
Many of those Soldiers training at the architecturally brilliant Convention Hall and dining at the elegant Marine Grill lived at the plush Kingsley Arms Hotel and the Santander Apartments, both in Asbury Park. Records show these sites provided housing for officers. 

Asbury Park mayor C.E.F. Hetrick informed the New York Times in April 1929, “During the past decade there has been a distinctive Jersey coast movement which has resulted in rapid expansion in development in Asbury Park and adjacent communities.” The Kingsley Arms and the Santander were products of that frenzied growth in the “Jersey Shore” area, which first became a popular retreat for harried New Yorkers in the second half of the nineteenth century. The hotel and apartments offered places where wealthy travelers could revel in the lap of luxury. 
The Times reported that Kelly Construction Company built the eight story Kinglsey Arms apartment hotel facing Deal Lake for a cost of approximately $650,000 in the late 1920s. The first three stories of the building were intended for use as a luxury hotel, with the upper five stories containing thirty-two apartments. 
The nine-story Santander was also built in the late 1920s, reportedly for $1 million. It is located between Deal Lake and the ocean. The Army displaced eighty-eight families when it took over the site, then owned by Prudential Real Estate Company, in the fall of 1942. Soldiers housed there must surely have felt as if they won the lottery!
The Kingsley Arms and the Santander retired from military service in November 1943. Today, they live on as upscale condominiums and apartments. 
The Times reported in August 1942 that the Army intended to house Soldiers in the Essex and Sussex and Monmouth luxury hotels in Spring Lake in addition to the Kingsley Arms and Santander in Asbury Park. There is no information to support that assertion in the Fort Monmouth archives, however. Frederick Schock, then owner of the Essex and Sussex, declared in September 1942 “We have not been notified that they intend to take the hotel.” Of these draft dodgers, only the sprawling Essex and Sussex remains standing. It offers upscale rentals with ocean views to senior citizens. The Monmouth was demolished in 1976.
The Army Signal Corps later enlisted the 150 room, oceanfront Grossman Hotel on Ocean Avenue in Bradley Beach. Called into service in early 1943, Grossman Hotel was used not for housing but for office space. The new “recruit,” born in 1928 at an estimated cost of over $500,000, according to the Times, hosted Signal Corps procurement functions. Utilization of this facility consolidated functions previously scattered between Fort Monmouth and its satellite site, Camp Evans. Approximately 400 Army and civilian personnel worked at the Hotel. 
Grossman Hotel no longer stands.
Fort Monmouth’s list of leased facilities used during WWII also includes the Sea Girt Inn, drafted into service in the spring of 1943. Records show that the facility, once closed by the local authorities for staging “indecent performances,” was used for far more serious purposes by the Signal Corps Engineering Laboratories. The Times reported that the Inn was used for research and development to benefit the Army Air Force. 
USAF COL (Ret) Albert C. Trakowski later recalled, “It was an old nightclub that the Signal Corps had rented for the purposes of doing remote experimentation…Rawinsonde. I did most all the work on developing how to use that equipment…there at the Sea Girt Inn.” According to Army Air Forces in World War II, Vol. VII: Services Around the World, the rawinsonde was an adaptation of radar that proved especially helpful to air operations by allowing the measurement of wind velocity and direction at high altitudes without the necessity for optical tracking previously required. 
The Sea Girt Inn has been demolished. 
Fort Monmouth leased dozens of other local sites during the war, some infamous and some nondescript, some standing and some long ago laid to rest. The post’s footprint on its surrounding communities is just one in a long list of reasons why, despite our pending closure, Fort Monmouth’s mark on the area can never be erased. 
(Editors Note: Stayed tuned for further historical articles in commemoration of Fort Monmouth’s 90th Anniversary.)

The National Guard Camp at Sea Girt was “ideally equipped” for use by Fort Monmouth “because of its extensive drill ground, target range, and railroad sidings..” Here, New Jersey National Guard Officers ride those rails at Sea Girt, 1931.
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MG (Ret.) Dawson Olmstead did much to address the issue of overcrowding at Fort Monmouth during WWII by leasing properties throughout Monmouth and Ocean counties.


U.S. Army photo.











